
Item 6—Agenda of Sept. 17, 2009 Sept. 12, 2009

Application for Certificates of Appropriateness

PROPOSAL:
Craig Smith on behalf of Speedway Properties requests certificates of appropriateness for work at 800 Q Street and 330 N. 8th Street 
in the Haymarket Landmark District.

DISCUSSION:
The Commission reviewed the design concepts for renovations at the Henkle & Joyce and Star Transfers buildings on the northeast 
corner of 8th & Q Streets at the June 2009 meeting and approved the general direction of the renovations.  The Commission indicated 
that canopies, demolitions, and additions would all require further review.

The applicant has submitted further design details on the Q Street buildings, along with massing studies for a rooftop addition to those structures.  
In addition, the applicant has provided design concepts for a major new building on the southeast corner of 8th and R Streets.  This report first 
reviews the history of the various buildings involved, then considers the design proposals  in relation to the district Preservation Guidelines.

Left: 800 Q as Jone, Douglas & Co. Cracker Manufactory, 1890s Right: Henkle & Joyce Hardware Co. at 800 Q St., 1923.  
Note rear addition and 8th St. canopy



The Q Street buildings have a complicated development sequence, as illustrated in the 
Sanborn Map Company sketches of the block.  The corner building was constructed about 
1887 (the date of its sewer permit) for Jones, Douglas and Co., cracker manufacturers.   Prior 
to that, the 1886  Sanborn map showed  “Dwg”—dwellings—on the property.

The original use of the building continued into the first years of the 20th century, then by 1905 
Henkle & Joyce Hardware Co. had purchased and occupied the building.  The Jones, Douglas  
name is still faintly visible between the second and third stories of the south facade.  The 
business that occupied the building next (and longest) is identified more clearly by another 
very old vertical painted sign on the west facade.
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The Sanborn atlases illustrate the addition of a east-west wing 
at the north/rear of the original building during Henkle & 
Joyce’s tenure..  A building permit of 1906 describes a metal-
clad building of the appropriate dimensions (42’x100’); perhaps 
it was either brick-clad later or built at variance with the permit.  

The “Transfer Company Storage W*are+Ho*use+” shown  by 
1928 east of the original building (forming a “U” shape with the 
addition) was added as a two-story building in 1907 and 
remodeled to three stories in 1915.  The one story loading dock 
that filled in a portion of the “U” was added in the 1940s; hence 
it is not yet present in the 1931 image (below, right).
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1928, updated to 1949
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The proposals provide the Commission with further detail of the entrance, dock and canopy features.  The canopies are proposed to 
be support with ironwork trusses reminiscent of the Armour Building at 8th & O Streets–an industrial/warehouse esthetic 
characteristic of Haymarket.  The 8th St. dock reinstitutes an early 20th century feature (in re-interpreted manner) and reinforces the 
strong 8th Street feature of covered docks.

The rooftop additions indicated in the massing diagrams appear to be subordinate to the main buildings.  The Commission might
consider accepting them in general concept and discussing with the applicant design concepts for their finished appearance. 

Renovation design concept approved June 2009 (except 
canopy details)

Sept. 2009 proposal with canopy and dock details.  Rooftop additon
illustrates proposed massing only, not finished details.







In addition to the renovation of the Q Street 
buildings, Speedway Properties proposes 
demolition of the 1906 rear addition to 800 Q, 
the vacation of  the east-west alley (which 
extends only from 8th St. to the pedestrian 
passageway behind the parking garage, and 
demolition of “Haymarket Antique Square” at 
330 N. 8th St., to accommodate construction 
of a hotel at the southeast corner of 8th & R 
Streets.

The building at 330 N. 8th. was substantially 
remodeled on the west (main) façade about a 
decade ago, with Commission approval.  The 
underlying historic building  was begun n 1904 
as a brick warehouse on the corner of 8th & R 
and approximately doubled in length before 
1928 to its present dimensions.  It served for 
many years as a paper warehouse for Lincoln 
Star newspaper and was heavily altered in 
appearance before the recent remodeling, 
with few of the historic features seen in the 
old photo (left) still visible.

1928
Sanborn
Map Co.

2009



The first consideration in reviewing this major proposal is the question of removing the 
addition to 800 Q and demolishing 330 N. 8th.  The  Tool House addition is  two stories tall 
and has two doors facing 8th St. at loading dock level and two small windows at the  
second story.  It appears the brickwork of the west side may be  of later date than that 
along the alley (north side) as the bonding patterns are different even though both are 
common brick, and the corner is poorly bonded.  The addition reflects part of the 
evolution of the building and the district but can be regarded as of secondary 
architectural character and significance, in comparison to the 1887 building to which it is 
attached.  The applicant will present information about the structural condition of the 
addition, which he describes as very poor.

The larger building at 330 N. 8th arguably contributes less to the historic character of 
Haymarket than the small Tool House addition, as it has been altered repeatedly and was 
not regarded as a contributing element of the district when it was locally designated and 
federally certified in 1983.  



The proposal includes  two levels of retail space along 8th Street accessed across and below a 
covered “loading” dock, and a 5-story hotel of approximately 110 rooms.  The hotel’s west 
façade would be set back about  12 feet from the 8th St. façade of the retail spaces.

Brick is proposed for the full height of both street facades, with a lighter color at the south 
four bays.  The center portion (6-bays) would be detailed with a minor cornice at the 4th floor 
level and a slight set-back to the top floor.  The northernmost 5 bays would treat the end bays 
as “pavilions,” emphasizing the north end and the R Street elevation as the front of the hotel.

The Haymarket guidelines recommend that “new work be compatible in materials, size, scale, 
color and texture with the earlier building and the neighborhood” and further recommend 
“Using contemporary designs compatible with the character and mood of the building or the 
neighborhood.”

These variations along the 8th Street façade are intended to break-up the considerable length 
of that side and to respect the typical scale of Haymarket’s larger warehouses, such as the 
Harding Building west across 8th Street.   The variations also echo the common Haymarket 
pattern of  warehouses growing through additions, both vertical and horizontal.











In conclusion, the Commission might consider these proposals in four parts:
•The design details of the docks and canopies for the Q Street buildings, as the overall concepts have already been encouraged;
•The mass, setback, and heights suggested for the rooftop additions above the Q Street buildings, reserving for further review any details of 
those elements;
• The demolition of the Tool House north addition and the demolition of 330 N. 8th Street;
•The design concepts of the 8th & R hotel (and associated dock and retail space).

Recommended findings:
1) The canopies and docks proposed for the former Tool House buildings re-establish a missing 8th St. dock and appear compatible with the 

historic character of Haymarket in their design detailing;
2) The overall placement and scale of the additions to the former Tool House buildings have minimal appearance from primary views of the 

main facades; however the Commission stipulates the exterior features of those features are subject to review and need to reflect a 
subordinate character;

3) The north addition to the Tool House makes only a minor contribution to the character of the Haymarket District and (if established) its 
structural deficiencies support its replacement;

4) The overall design concepts of the hotel meet the Haymarket guidelines for compatible new construction.

Recommended action:
Approval of certificates of appropriateness for the proposed work, on the conditions that the Tool House additions are approved as a building 

envelope only, requiring further design review; and the hotel design is recognized as conceptual and will require further review of signs 
and other details as developed.

_________________________________________
Ed Zimmer
Historic Preservation Planner
441-6360
ezimmer@lincoln.ne.gov
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